IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA SID J. WHITE

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

٧.

Case No. 70,948

JOHN R. WEED,

Respondent/Petitioner.

PETITIONER/RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JCHN R. WEED Florida Bar No. 121530 605 South Jefferson St. Perry, Florida 32347

(904) 584-3305

INTRODUCTION

This is a case of original jurisdiction, pursuant to Article V, Section 15 of the Constitution of the State of Florida.

The petition for review is sought by the **Respondent who** was the accused attorney before the Referee. The Complainant, the Florida Bar, did not seek review before this Court.

References to the Record are referring to the numbered paragraphs in that letter to Mr. Sid White from the Honorable William L. Gary, Referee in this cause, dated May 5, 1989. Documents will be designated with a capital R in parenthesis followed by the paragraph number. The complaint in this cause is therefore noted as (R. 1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commence by the filing of a four count complaint against the Respondent on August 5, 1987. (R.1) The Complainant filed certain Request for Admissions with the complaint and the Respondent answered the Complaint on September 1, 1987. (R. 2,3) The Request for Admissions was answered on September 22, 1987. (R. 4)

An order scheduling a final hearing was entered by the Referee on October 15, 1987. (R.5) The Complainant filed a motion to transport the witness John Louie Houck on December 17, 1987 and an Order for that purpose was entered on the same date. (R. 7,8)

An Order was entered on March 28, 1988 scheduling an additional hearing in this matter. A motion to transport the witness Houck was filed on April 8, 1988 and an order for that purpose was entered on April 11, 1988. (R.9,10, 11) Two additional notices of hearing, one dated July 12, 1988 and the other dated August 3, 1988, was entered by the Referee. (R. 14,15)

At the conclusion of the last hearing it was decided that the parties would submit written memoranda and submit them to the Referee. The written closing argument and memorandum as to appropriate discipline was submitted by the Complainant on September 30,1988. (R.16) The written closing argument of the Respondent was also submitted on the same day but without a memorandum as to the appropriate discipline. (R.17)

On October 10, 1988 the Respondent filed a motion to be allowed to present evidence in mitigation after the Referee had made a determination of guilt or innocence. (R. 18) The Complainant filed a response to this motion on October 14, 1988.

(R. 19)

The Referee entered his order denying the Respondent's request for a hearing on mitigating factors on April 24, 1989. (R. 21) On that same date the Complainant filed it statement of cost. (R. 22)

On May 4, 1989 the Referee entered his Report in this matter and forwarded the file to the Supreme Court of Florida.

(R. 23) The Respondent filed for review.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The complaint filed in this caused consisted of four counts with a number of violations alleged in each count. The first count contained an allegation by a Mr. Ervin Whitehead who contended that hired the Respondent to represent him after he was involved in an automobile accident. Mr. Whitehead claimed that he sustained both property and personal injury damages to his neck.

Mr. Whitehead did not have in autombile insurance at the time of the accident,. The Respondent did secure for him a settlement for the damages to his vehicle from the insurance company of the other party and charged him a fee of one hundred dollars. Mr. Whitehead continued to see doctors occasionally but was unable to get any of them to say that he had sustained any permanent damage to his body.

In May, 1983 the Respondent sent Mr. Whitehead a letter informing him that he did not believe that he had a personal injury claim and that he should seek another opinion if he desired. The Respondent explained the present state of the law of Florida concerning filing suit for personal injury. Mr. Whitehead claimed that he never received this letter but did maintain that he wrote to the Respondent in May, 1984 complaining that he was not able to talk to the Respondent.

Based upon all of the evidence presented at the final hearing the Referee recommended in his Report that the Respondent be found not guilty of violating DR1-102(A)(4),

DR1-102(A)(5), DR1-102-(A)(6), DR6-101(A)(1), DR7-101(A)(2) and DR7-101(A)(3)

The second count of the complaint asserted that the Respondent had violated the Code of Professional Conduct by having been charged and convicted of failing to file income tax returns for the years 1978 and 1979. The Respondent admitted the allegations of this count and only disputed that it was a crime involving moral turpitude. He admitted that it did adversely reflect upon his fitness to practice law.

The Report of the Referee recommended that the Respondent be found guilty of violating DR1-102(A)(3) and Article XI, Rule 11.02(3)(a) and (b) of The Integration Rule of the Florida Bar.

Count III of the complaint centered around the allegation of John Louie Houck. The Complainant acknowledged in it'written argument to the Referee that this Count is dependent upon the believability of Mr. Houck. Mr. Houck made many accusations against many people but since the Referee chose not to give these any credence they will not be set forth here.

The Referee's recommendation concerns the allegation by Mr. Houck that the Respondent failed to appeal his criminal conviction.

Mr. Houck was charged with trafficking in marijuana and with possession of more than one hundred pounds of marijuana. The charges were the result of a "sting" operation conducted primarily by the Florida Department of Law Enforcement. Mr.

Houck maintained that he was working in an undercover capacity for the Department. His employment had come about after he was caught with a barn filled with marijuana on his farm in Perry, Florida. The Respondent represented Mr. Houck in that case and the charges were dismissed because law enforcement 'officer failed to obtain a search warrant prior to searching the premises. Mr. Houck's Motion to Suppress was granted by the Court.

During that case Mr. Houck became friends with some of the agents and according to him he began to work with them. The agents maintained that they found him so untrustworthy that he never in fact worked for them.

One of the people caught in the barn at the time of the raid was one Orlando Rodriguez. According to Mr. Houck this man owed him some money and he was trying to get it from him. According to various telephone conversations which were recorded Mr. Houck promised to help Mr. Rodriguez with his troubles but wanted his money. He kept telling Mr. Rodriguez that he was going to have him sent off if he did not get his money together. During the conversations Mr. Houck claimed that he knew everyone in Perry and had great power with the local establishment. He told Mr. Rodriguez that he could pay off judges and that they did what he told them to do. He also tried to intimidate Mr. Rodriguez into hiring the Respondent claiming that they worked together.

Mr. Rodriguez tired of this harassment and notified the

Department of Law Enforcement. They had Mr. Rodriguez Mr. Houck and tell him that he was bring him some money and also some marijuana. Originally this meeting was to take place in Perry, Florida according to the transcripts o f the telephone Mr. Rodriguez came to Gainesville and conversations. However, called Mr. Houck from there telling him to come down and meet him at a motel. He told Mr. Houck that he had his money and also had him some "pot".

Mr. Houck picked up a friend and immediately proceeded to Gainesville. When he arrived Mr. Rodriguez had a friend with him that was there for the purpose of translating and assisting his friend Orlando. This friend was in fact an agent of the Department of Law Enforcement and the room was wired with listening and recording devises.

A prolonged discussion and heated argument took place in the room with Mr. Houck making many threats. He was very angry because Mr. Rodriguez had not brought him his money. Mr. Houck repeatedly stated on the taped conversation that he did not want the "pot" and that he did not have any use for it. Mr. Rodriguez and the agent consistently tried to get him to take the marijuana and after about two hours of conversation he agreed upon the condition that Mr. Rodriguez would get his money to him in the following days.

Mr. Houck and his friend had the marijuana placed in Mr. Houck's car and left the motel. A few minutes later they were arrested and charged with possession of marijuana.

Mr. Houck contacted the Respondent shortly after his arrest and requested that he represent him in the Circuit Court of Alachua County on the charges. He also requested that the Respondent represent his friend. A plea of not guilty was entered and the presiding judge held a hearing to determine that there was no conflict with the two defendants having the same lawyer. Both men were present before the Court and it was concluded after they were both questioned that there was no conflict and that the Respondent could represent both of them.

Because of the overwhelming evidence that the State had it was discussed and decided that the only possible defense was that of entrapment. The defendant understood that it would be necessary for them to, in effect, say that they were guilty but that they were led into the crime by the officers. It was understood that the matter would be totally in the hands of the jury and that it would be necessary for them to be convinced.

The matter went to trial and Mr. Houck testified using the defense that he was entrapped. The jury chose not to believe him although they did believe his friend. Mr. Houck was convicted and sentenced to a term of 15 years imprisonment.

Mr. Houck maintains that he wanted the Respondent to prosecute an appeal of his conviction and that the Respondent told him he would do so. A notice of appeal was in fact filed in the Circuit Court bearing Mr. Houck's name on it. Mr. Houck claims that the signature was not his but was a forgery. Mr. Hudson, an employee of the Respondent, maintained that he took

the notice to the Gainesville jail and that he saw Ur. Houck sign it and that he notarized the signature. He also stated that he took the notice to the Clerk of the Circuit Court for filing. The notice was not timely filed and was in fact one day beyond the 30 day period for filing criminal appeals.' Mr. Hudson stated that he though the notice was prepared at the instruction of the Respondent but on cross examination he admitted that Mr. Houck was calling the office during this period of time and that it may have been prepared at his instruction or the instruction of someone else in the office. Mr. Houck testified that he had never seen the notice before and that it did not bear his signature.

The Respondent testified that he told Mr. Houck that there was no basis for an appeal, the trial court having ruled with the defense on almost every objection and having permitted the Defendant to plead not guilty as well as assert the defense of entrapment. Mr. Houck was told that an appeal would be to no avail and that the Respondent could not ethically assert that there were any grounds. He was instructed to obtained the services of the Public Defender if he believed that he must have his case appealed.

Mr. Houck testified that he did not know that the Public Defender was handling his appeal and thought that it was in the hands of the Respondent up until 1985. Vet, the record reveals that he did file an affidavit of insolvency and a request to have the Public Defender appointed. The Public Defender was

appointed and filed a number of documents in the appeal. More importantly the Public Defender visited Mr. Houck in prison to discuss with him his appeal. When the appeal was dismissed because the Public Defender did not show cause why the notice of appeal had not been filed on time a copy of the dismidsal was mailed to Mr. Houck. Mr. Houck even wrote to Mr. Rhodes at the First District Court of Appeal concerning his case and was told that it had been dismissed because the Public Defender had not filed a responds to the Order to Show Cause.

Mr. Houck admitted that the Respondent had told him that he did not have anything to appeal.

Mr. Houck, through Mr. Brinkmeyer, the Public Defender that had handled his appeal and allowed it to be dismissed, filed this complaint against the Respondent. Mr. Brinkmeyer also filed for a belated appeal of the conviction of Mr. Houck with the First District Court of Appeal. This appeal was granted and Mr. Houck was allowed to present his grounds to the Court. The conviction of Mr. Houck was affirmed, the Court finding no merit to the arguments presented on his behalf. This affirmance came down before the hearing in this cause and was the probable reason for Mr. Houck's desire to berate many other people at the time of the hearing.

Mr. Cornelius, an agent with the Florida Department of Law Enforcement who had testified against Mr. Houck in his trial, also testified in this matter. He admitted that he knew nothing of the matters complained of except what Mr. Houck had told

him.Mr. Douglas Brinkmeyer also testified and again stated that he could only repeat what Mr. Houck had told him.

Count IV concerned the complaint of Mr. Boyd Hilton and his accusation that he retained the Respondent to represent him in certin matters and that the Respondent failed to do so. Mr. Hilton claimed that he sought the assistance of the Respondent concerning a juvenile matter in which his children were charged and a subsequent civil action brought against him and his wife for the damages caused by the children.

The Respondent testified that he was retained by Mrs. Hilton in January 1985 because she had a judgment against her for the damages caused by the two sons of Mr. Hilton. These were not her children and she did not understand how she could be held responsible for damages caused by them. She was attempting to buy a car and was unable to do so because the insurance company had obtained a judgment against her.

Mrs. Hilton had been to juvenile court with her husband and the sons when they were charged with having set fire to a house after having broken into it. She was there not as their mother but simply to be with her husband. The two sons were represented by Mr. Isedore Rommes, Assistant Public Defender. Mr. Rommes negotiated a plea and the two sons admitted the allegations of delinquency and were placed on probation. According to Mr. and Mrs. Hilton, Mr. Rommes told them that they would not be liable for the damages to the house because it was covered by insurance. They said that they would never have

agreed to the boys admitting guilt if they had known that they would be liable in any way.

In January, 1985, after being paid a retainer fee by Yrs. Hilton, the Respondent filed a motion in the Juvenile Court to allow the sons to withdraw their plea and vacate the judgment based upon the information that Yr. and Yrs. Hilton had relied upon from Yr. Rommes. A hearing was held on this motion but Mr. Rommes testified that he did not give the Hilton's this advise and the motion was denied. The records do not reveal that the order denying the motion was ever reduced to writting and filed.

In February, 1985, the Respondent filed a motion to vacate the judgment against Mrs. Hilton upon the basis that Yrs. Hilton not being related to the children was in no way responsible for their torts. Upon proper proof to the insurance company of this fact the insurance company cleared Mrs. Hilton and there was no need for the matter to proceed further.

Mr. Hilton testified that he hired the Respondent to appeal the conviction of his children in Juvenile Court and that he also hired him to defend him in small claims court. He did admit that he did not know when he hired the Respondent and that the receipt for the retainer was in the possession of his ex-wife.

Subsequent to the sons being placed on probation they again were having trouble and the Respondent assisted Mrs. Hilton in getting them transferred to their natural mother. The Respondent testified that this cause friction between Yr. and

Mrs. Hilton. This was in response to a question by bar counsel as to why Mr. Hilton would have brought this complaint.

The Respondent asserted that he did everything that he was hired to do by Mrs. Hilton and that he was not guilty of any neglect.

The Referee recommended that the Respondent be found guilty of violating DR6-101(A)(3), DR7-101(A)(1), DR7-101(A)(2) and DR7-101(A)(3).

ARGUEMENT I

'The Referee erred in permitting the Complainant to introduce the testinrmy of a witness before the Grievance Committee into evidence when that witness was present at the hearing"

The Complainant sought to introduce the testimony of the witness, John Louie Houck, before the Grievance Committee into evidence over the objections of the Respondent. The witness was present at the hearing before the Referee but his answers were difficult to elicit and were often contradictory to had previously given. testimony which he He was attempting to give a long recitation on the injustice of the justice system and to recite to the Referee that he had been sent to prison on a frame-up by the Department of Law Enforcement. He refused to confine his remarks to the matter under consideration and continuously attempted to indict everyone, everywhere, that he had ever had any dealings with and to depict himself as innocent victim of injustice.

Because of the position taken by the witness during the hearing on the Complaint against the Respondent, the Complainant finally gave up and simply took the position that the testimony which he had given before the Grievance Committee should be introduced into evidence by the Referee and considered by him in reaching his decision. The Respondent objected to this upon the grounds that it denied him the opportunity to have the witnesses appearing against him confront him and be cross examained. The Respondent was not present at the Grievance Committee hearing

when the witness testified although he had been noticed of the hearing and could have been present if he had chosen to do so. The position of the Complainant was that the testimony of Mr. Houck before the Committee was similar to a deposition and that it was admissible even though the Respondent was not present. The Referee at first sustained the objection of the Respondent but upon further argument from the Complainant changed his ruling and admitted the transcript of the Grievance Committee hearing.

It is easy to understand the frustration of the Complainant with a witness who has previously given testimony which is very supportive of its position and who when he appears before the Referee begins to take a different stance and begins to waiver and take a different position. However, that witness is not a party to the proceedings and his attendance has been compelled and the Referee has the duty and the power to compel him to answer the questions propounded by counsel for the Complainant.

■ ■ The witness begins to give testimony which is a surprise or is contradictory to what he has said under oath previously than the witness can be declared a hostile witness and the Complainant could have impeached him as on cross examination. These remedies as well as others were available to the Complainant in order for the desired testimony to have obtained. However, instead of taking any of these or other remedies the Complainant chose to seek admission of testimony before the Grievance Committee. This was а

fundamental error which deprived the Respondent of various Constitutional guarantees and resulted in the finding of guilt on one of the counts of the Complaint.

It is realized that the proceedings before the Referee are neither criminal nor civil but are quasi-administrative hearings until they reach the Supreme Court. State ex rel. Florida Bar v. Dawson, (1959, Fla) 111 So. 2d 427 However, the proceedings are punitive in nature and the rights of the Respondent must be carefully guarded. Conner v. Alderman, (1964, 2nd DCA) So. 2d 890; Lester v. Department of Professional and Occupational Regulations, (1977, 1st DCA) 348 So. 2d 923; Lee v. Walgreen Drug Stores Co. (Fla 1942) 10 So. 2d 314; Allure Shore Corp. v. Lymberis, (Fla 1965) 173 So. 2d 702 Therefore it cannot be said that the introduction of the transcript was harmless error because without the testimony from it the 'charges cannot be sustained because there was not clear and convincing evidence presented otherwise as to this particular count.

If a witness changes his story and contradicts what he has previously said then his testimony is certainly not clear and convincing. Such testimony fails even to meet the preponderance test in ordinary civil cases. The witness simply would not say in the hearing what he had previously said and therefore it was necessary for the Complainant to attempt the strategy of introducing the testimony before the Committee as if it were the deposition of a party.

Even if this were a deposition it would be necessary for

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