IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 15 1989

CLERK, SUPRAME COURT

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

JOHN R. WEED,

Respondent.

Case No. 70,948

TFB File Nos. 86-15895-03, 86-15898-03, 86-15911-03, and 86-15918-03

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

JOHN V. MCCARTHY

Bar Counsel, The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
(904) 561-5600
Attorney Number 0562350

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Complainant argues that there was substantial and competent evidence which was presented to the Referee as to Counts III and IV to allow him to find Petitioner guilty of the violations cited in his report. Further, Complainant believes Petitioner should be found guilty of violating the disciplinary rules as cited in its Complaint against him in regard to Count II.

The Complainant argues that the evidence in mitigation which the Petitioner may or may not have, should not be heard at this point in time, that the Petitioner has waived his right in this regard and ignored his opportunity to present it to the Referee. As Petitioner states in his own Summary of the Argument, that his motion for hearing of mitigating evidence was denied nine days before the final report of the Referee was filed.

Complainant argues that the Referee acted appropriately in allowing the Complainant to introduce into evidence the sworn testimony of John Louie Houck before the Referee when Mr.

Houck, a witness at the final hearing, had repeatedly stated under oath that he could not remember answers to questions which he had been able to answer before the Grievance

Committee. The Complainant believes that the Referee, faced with a witness who could not remember facts and events as he

had approximately one year earlier, made the correct decision in allowing the sworn grievance committee testimony of Mr. Houck to come in as evidence.

Lastly, Complainant argues that the penalty recommended by the Referee is appropriate in light of the facts and circumstances of this case and based upon Petitioner's past disciplinary record.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING THE COMPLAINANT TO INTRODUCE THE SWORN TESTIMONY OF A WITNESS BEFORE THE THIRD CIRCUIT GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE INTO EVIDENCE WHEN THAT WITNESS CONTINUOUSLY TESTIFIED BEFORE THE REFEREE THAT HE COULD NOT REMEMBER OR RECALL ANSWERS TO QUESTIONS WHICH HE HAD ANSWERED APPROXIMATELY A YEAR BEFORE IN FRONT OF THE GRIEVANCE COMMITTEE.

The Complainant introduced into evidence the testimony of a witness, John Louie Houck, over the objection of Petitioner at the final hearing. (TR 1-69). The witness, Mr. Houck, had been called by the Complainant to give testimony before the Referee and continuously stated that he either could not recall or remember the answers to questions he had been asked in front of the grievance committee. (TR 1-50-68). Mr. Houck is an older man who was complaining at the hearing held January 27, 1988 about his age, illness, and loss of memory. (TR 1-37.Based upon Mr. Houck's inability to recall facts and events to which he had previously testified, the Referee allowed his sworn testimony into evidence. The Referee then ordered Petitioner be given a copy of Mr. Houck's testimony which had been entered into evidence for his review. 1-68). Mr. Houck's testimony was continued until a future date to give Petitioner the opportunity to review Mr. Houck's sworn testimony before the Grievance Committee and to prepare for his cross examination at some future time. (TR 1-69).

On August 1, 1988 and August 22, 1988, Petitioner was given the opportunity to confront Mr. Houck and to cross examine him thoroughly as to all allegations which had been made against him. (TR 3, TR 4). Petitioner, being aware of the fact that he was given this opportunity to confront Mr. Houck and to cross examine him, graciously corrected the Referee as to the fact that that was what he had just accomplished in questioning Mr. Houck. (TR 4-60). Petitioner admits that he had notice of the Grievance Committee hearing at which Mr. Houck's sworn testimony was elicited and that he could have been present if he had chosen to do so.

Mr. Houck most certainly was compelled to be present at the final hearing before the Referee in this case. (R 7, 8, 10, 11). The Referee, however, does not have the power to compel a witness to remember that, which due to age and health, he simply cannot recall. Petitioner's argument appears to be that the Referee somehow should be able to make a person remember things they have forgotten.

The Petitioner next asserts that the witness (Mr. Houck) could be impeached as in cross examination. An attorney does not impeach his own witness because he cannot remember but he rather attempts to refresh his memory which is exactly what Bar Counsel did in this case. (TR 1-44).

Petitioner states in his Initial Brief that he was deprived of various, unspecified, Constitutional guarantees which resulted in the finding of guilt. The Complainant finds it somewhat difficult to respond to such a vague assertion on the part of Petitioner. Petitioner was afforded the opportunity on two separate occasions to cross examine Mr. Houck and to present any evidence that he had to refute the allegations against him. (TR 3, TR 4).

The Petitioner using the analogy of the entry of a deposition into evidence at a trial to the entry of the Grievance Committee transcript at a referee final hearing misconstrues the rules for the entry of such materials into evidence at either proceeding. Pursuant to Rule 1.330(a)(3), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure, "the deposition of a witness, whether or not a party, may be used by any party for any purpose if the court finds: . . (c) that the witness is unable to attend or testify because of age, illness, infirmity, or imprisonment." As has been stated previously, Mr. Houck testified he was an older man in poor health and that he could not recall nor remember answers to questions he once knew. Court has noted that it is up to the sound discretion of the trial court in admitting deposition testimony when a witness is present in court and called as a witness. Anderson v. Gaither, 162 So.2d 877 (Fla. 1935). Further, the Court has stated that a referee during a disciplinary proceeding is not bound by the technical rules of evidence. The Florida Bar v.

<u>Vannier</u>, 498 So. 2d 896 (Fla. 1986) and <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Dawson</u>, 11 So. 2d 427 (Fla. 1959).

Petitioner's comparison of the grievance committee function to that of a grand jury is appropriate as far as it goes. Both the grand jury and the grievance committee find probable cause to go further; however, the rights of the individual accused are quite different in both proceedings. The grievance committee procedure provides an opportunity for the accused to be present at the hearing, to present evidence, and to cross examine witnesses, all of which are not given in a grand jury setting. The comparison by Petitioner fails to appreciate the fundamental difference between a civil, criminal, and quasi-judicial proceeding. The nature of the proceeding dictates the methodology to be used in arriving at a result. This would appear to be the reason why, for example, hearsay evidence is admissible in a Bar disciplinary proceeding when it would not be in a civil or criminal proceeding absent some exception to the rule of evidence.

The question raised in this argument by Complainant does not come down to what do you do with a witness who changes his testimony, but rather, what do you do when the witness cannot remember. It is the Complainant's belief that the only acceptable course of action to follow is that chosen by the Referee in this case. To do otherwise is to endorse the view that sworn testimony given in front of a grievance committee is

valid at that proceeding and no other should the witness be available to testify although lacking in the ability to do so.

ISSUE 11.

THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE REFEREE THAT PETITIONER BE FOUND GUILTY OF COUNTS III AND IV IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT AND SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

The Referee's findings should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the evidence. The Florida Bar v. McKenzie, 442 So.2d 934 (Fla. 1983).

The burden of proof at the referee level is upon the Complainant and in order to sustain a charge of professional misconduct there must be clear and convincing evidence of the attorney's guilt. The standard of review by the Supreme Court is that the referee's findings must be sustained if supported by competent and substantial evidence. The Florida Bar v.

Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987). Petitioner's contention is that the Complainant did not prove the guilt of Petitioner by clear and convincing evidence. What Petitioner is apparently requesting is a trial de novo which this Court has already stated is not within the nature of its review. The Florida Bar v. Hooper, 509 So.2d 289 (Fla. 1987).

The evidence presented to the Referee was both competent and substantial. Mr. Houck testified that it was his understanding that Petitioner was representing him with respect to his criminal appeal. (GC 1-107, TR 4-61). Mr. Houck testified that Petitioner had told him that his appeal had been

filed and argued. (GC 1-108). Mr. Houck's recollection of what took place in 1982 is supported by the testimony of Mr. Brinkmeyer who testified that when he went to visit Mr. Houck in 1982 in prison he told him that Petitioner was representing him on his criminal appeal. (TR 1-76). Mr. Hudson, an employee of Petitioner's, testified that he went to see Mr. Houck while he was in prison in 1982 at the direction of Petitioner to get an affidavit signed and notarized. 3-7). It was Mr. Hudson's understanding that Petitioner was representing Mr. Houck at the time he went to the prison. (TR 3-8). Mr. Hudson further testified that Mr. Houck was in constant communication with Petitioner's law office once he was sent to jail. (TR 3-12). In a letter from Jean Stinson, Appeals Clerk, Alachua County, Florida (hereinafter referred to as Ms. Stinson), to Mr. Raymond Rhodes, Clerk, First District Court of Appeal, entered as The Florida Bar Exhibit 12. Stinson states that representatives of Petitioner's office travelled to Gainesville to file the notice of appeal and affidavits of the defendant's. Mr. Houck denies signing the notice of appeal. (GC 1-110). The testimony entered against Petitioner, the fact that Mr. Houck refused to allow Mr. Brinkmeyer to file anything in his behalf in regard to his appeal in 1982 all support Mr. Houck's contention that Petitioner was suppose to represent him in his criminal appeal.

In 1986, a belated appeal was filed and Mr. Houck's case was determined on its merits.

The Petitioner, in his Initial Brief, appears to be attempting to obtain a hearing de novo by this Court as to Count 111. Petitioner attempts to discredit Mr. Houck by use of statements without reference to the record or which pertain to matters not presently being reviewed as the basis upon which the Referee decided Petitioner's guilt or innocence. Such action by Petitioner supports Complainant's argument that Petitioner is seeking to retry his case.

Petitioner asserts that Mr. Houck's refusal to testify shows that he is unworthy of belief. Petitioner does not state that Mr. Houck could not remember the answers to the questions asked of him at the January 1988 hearing. Mr. Houck faced Petitioner on August 1, 1988 and August 22, 1988 and answered any and all questions Petitioner had.

Petitioner has not shown that the testimony or evidence produced at the final hearing has been discredited, he (Petitioner) merely makes the assertion that it has.

Apparently the Referee did not concur with Petitioner on this point.

In regard to Count IV, Petitioner again asks this Court to review the record - basically a trial de novo to find for itself the falsity of the accusation against him. As was pointed out by Complainant, Mr. Hilton sought Petitioner's assistance in appealing the conviction of his sons based upon a

possible conflict of interest on the part of their attorney. It would appear that Petitioner now asserts the reverse of what Mr. Hilton testified took place. Mr. Hilton testified that he hired Petitioner to set aside (appeal) his sons' conviction and based upon that appeal the civil suit would be killed. Petitioner states that once the civil suit was resolved to the wife's satisfaction that there was no need to go further. Yet, if it is as Petitioner states, then why did he not merely show the wife's relationship to Mr. Hilton's sons in the beginning to the plaintiff's attorney in the civil suit and forget about the juvenile matter.

Petitioner's statement about what Mr. Hilton knew or did not know are not supported by the record and should be discarded by this Court.

The function of this Court is not to give Petitioner a forum to retry his case. His conclusion that Mr. Hilton's testimony is unsupported and his request to have this Court review the entire record is not appropriate when Petitioner fails to refer to the record or exhibits in his brief.

ISSUE 111.

THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN DENYING PETITIONER'S UNTITLED MOTION TO ALLOW HIM TO PRESENT EVIDENCE IN MITIGATION AFTER A FINDING OF GUILT BY THE REFEREE.

At the conclusion of the last hearing in this matter which was held on August 22, 1988, both parties agreed and the Referee concurred that written final argument and memoranda on discipline would be submitted to the Referee within a specified time. The Complainant agrees with Petitioner's chronology of the submission of the memoranda.

Petitioner did file a motion requesting the opportunity to present mitigating evidence after the Referee had determined his guilt or innocence. The Florida Bar opposed Petitioner's motion on the ground that Petitioner had previously agreed with the Complainant and the Referee on how closing argument and discipline would be argued and that it appeared that the request was filed solely for delay. The Petitioner in his brief argues that to not afford him the opportunity to offer mitigating evidence once his guilt or innocence has been determined is contrary to all of the rules of fair play and justice under our system. It is the Complainant's belief that the Petitioner was offered the opportunity to present mitigating evidence but chose not to do so. Petitioner asserts that he could not offer mitigating evidence when and how he had previously agreed but rather chose to file nothing in

mitigation and to seek by way of an untitled motion to request to present evidence in mitigation once his guilt or innocence had been determined. Petitioner filed his motion seeking to present his evidence at a future date on October 10, 1988 and never called it up for hearing. Petitioner's reasoning for his failure to call his own motion up for hearing was that it would in some way be improper. Why it would have been improper the Complainant does not know. Basically, the opportunity for Petitioner to seek to offer whatever mitigation he had, existed; he, however, chose not to avail himself of it. Petitioner's plea to equity by way of fairness and justice should be viewed in light of the equitable maxim that "equity aids one who has been vigilant, not one who has slept on his rights." cite omitted.

Further, Petitioner did nothing between April 24, 1989, the date denying his motion, and May 4, 1989 when the Referee's report was made.

Petitioner has basically slept on his rights and now asks this Court to give back to him the opportunity to present mitigating evidence that he freely and knowingly failed to pursue.

It should be noted lest the Court believe the Complainant to be unattentive, that the Petitioner has provided this Court with a considerable amount of what he believes to be mitigation, by way of his Initial Brief.

ISSUE IV.

THE PETITIONER WAS FOUND GUILTY OF VIOLATING DISCIPLINARY RULE 1-102(A) (3) AND RTICLE XI, RULE 11.02(3)(a) AND (b) OF THE INTEGRATION RULE OF THE FLORIDA BAR AS CHARGED IN THE COMPLAINT FILED AGAINST HIM BY THE FLORIDA BAR AND THE REFEREE DID NOT ERR IN HIS FINDINGS.

Petitioner admits that the allegations in the Complaint with respect to Count 11, except that said allegations constitute a violation of the disciplinary rules cited therein. Basically, it is the understanding of the Complainant that Petitioner denies that he has violated Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(3) (engaging in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude). In the case of The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983), the Court held that conduct entered into by an attorney similar to that of the Petitioner, ". . . constitutes a serious cumulative misconduct involving moral turpitude . . moreover, this conduct present here reflects a flagrant and deliberate disregard for the very law which respondent took an oath to uphold." Id at 986. Similarly, in the case of The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1979), Mr. Vernell, having been convicted in federal district court of the misdemeanors of failure to file income tax returns for the years 1967 through 1971, was found to have violated Florida Bar Integration Rule, article XI, Rule 11.02(3)(a) and (b), the Florida Bar Code of Professional Responsibility, DR 1-102(A)(3), (4), and (6). In light of

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